

Form of Agreement for Consultancy Services



CONDITIONS OF CONTRACT FOR CONSULTANCY SERVICES

| Contents | Page |
|--|------|
| FORM OF AGREEMENT FOR ENGAGEMENT OF CONSULTANT | 3 |
| SPECIAL CONDITIONS – PART A (SPECIFIC CONDITIONS OF CONTRACT) | 4 |
| SPECIAL CONDITIONS – PART B (OTHER CONDITIONS OF CONTRACT) | 6 |
| APPENDICES | 14 |
| Appendix A: Scope, Purpose, Programme and Completion Date for the Services, Policy | 15 |
| Appendix B: Fees, Expenses and Payment | 21 |
| Appendix C: Client's Representative | 22 |
| Appendix D: Consultant's Key Personnel, Consultant's Representative | 23 |
| Appendix E: Subconsultants and Subconsultants' Key Personnel | 24 |
| Appendix F: Other Consultants, Other Consultants' Insurances, Personnel, Equipment, Facilities and Information supplied by the Client | 25 |
| Appendix G: Client's Risk Identification and Notification | 26 |
| Appendix H1:Deed of Novation (Principal to Contractor) | 27 |
| Appendix H2:Deed of Novation (Principal to Principal) | 31 |
| Released under | |

FORM OF AGREEMENT FOR ENGAGEMENT OF CONSULTANT

This AGREEMENT is made the day of 2022

ionAct

Käinga Ora-Homes and Communities BETWEEN ("Client") AND **Cheal Consultants Limited** ("Consultant")

For Services in connection with project AR110717 at 6 Teitei Drive, Ohakune ("Client's Project").

THE Client engages the Consultant to provide the professional services set out in Appendix A and agrees to pay the Consultant as described in Appendix B and to undertake its other obligations set out in this Agreement.

THE Consultant agrees to perform the Services on the terms of this Agreement.

The following documents shall form the Agreement in order of precedence:

- Form of Agreement for Engagement of Consultant;
- The Special Conditions Part A (Specific Conditions of Contract);
- The Special Conditions Part B (Other Conditions of Contract); .
- Additional documents specified in the Special Conditions; .
- Engineering New Zealand/ACENZ: General Conditions of Contract for Consultancy Services (Fourth Edition, . December 2017) (copy not included);
- Scope, Purpose, Programme and Completion Date for the Services, Policy; Appendix A: ÷
- Fees, Expenses and Payment; Appendix B: .
- Appendix C: Client's Representative; .
- Consultant's Key Personnel, Consultant's Representative; Appendix D: .
- Subconsultants and Subconsultants Rey Personnel; Appendix E: .
- Other Consultants, Other Consultants' Insurances, Personnel, Equipment, Facilities and Appendix F: Information supplied by the Client;
- Client's Risk Identification and Notification; and Appendix G: .
- H1. Deed of Novation (Principal to Contractor); Appendix H:
 - H2. Deed of Novation (Principal to Principal).

SIGNED for the Client Signature Signature Brent Limmer A Name Name Manager - Investment and Planning Position Position In the presence of: Signature of Jarina Kerschbaumen Witness Witness Name of Name of Marina Kerschbaumer Witness Witness

SIGNED for the Consultant by:

In the presence of: s 9(2)(a) Signature of

This document should be signed by an authorised person. Signatures should be witnessed.) (NB:

SPECIAL CONDITIONS – PART A (Specific Conditions of Contract)

References are to clauses in the Engineering New Zealand/ACENZ General Conditions of Contract for Consultancy Services (Fourth Edition, December 2017) (copy not included)

Clause No: Not applicable. Agreement: Not applicable. Additional documents forming part of the Agreement include: Not applicable

1.3 Fixed Term Expiry Date

Not applicable.

5.3 Payment Timing

The Client will pay any valid invoice by the 20th day of the month following the month in which the invoice is dated, providing:

- a) The invoice is emailed to <u>invoices@kaingaora.govt.nz</u> no later than the 5th working Day of that following month; and
- b) The correct Kainga Ora order number related to this Agreement is recorded on the invoice.

An order number for this Agreement can be obtained by the Consultant from the Client's Representative. If an order number is not provided within 20 Working Days of request from the Consultant or the date of this Agreement (whichever is later) the Consultant shall notify the Client Representative in writing that it shall be entitled to not commence the Services.

6.2 Limitation of Liability

The maximum amount payable by the Consultant, whether in contract, tort or otherwise, in relation to claims, damages, liabilities, losses or expenses, shall be the sum of \$1,000,000.

6.4 Duration of Liability

The duration of liability shall be six years

6.5 Insurance

The amount of public liability insurance required shall be \$2,000,000.

The amount of professional indemnity insurance required shall be \$1,000,000 (or, where the limit of liability under clause 6.2 is higher, an amount not less than such limit of liability).

Motor Vehicle Third Party Insurance is not required.

12.8 Notices

Client's Address:

| Physical Address: | 74 Grey Street, Gisborne |
|-------------------|---------------------------------|
| Attention: | Sam Mogford |
| Postal Address: | Private bag 7007, Gisborne 4010 |
| Email address: | notices@kaingaora.govt.nz |

Consultant's Address:

| Physical Address: | 22 Goldfinch Street, Okahune 4625 |
|-------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Attention: | Dean Sherrit |
| Postal Address: | 22 Goldfinch Street, Okahune 4625 |
| Email address: | Dean.sherrit@cheal.co.nz |

Released under the Official Information Act

SPECIAL CONDITIONS – PART B (Other Conditions of Contract)

1. Clause 1.1

The following definitions are amended or added to clause 1.1 as follows.

Amend Client's Intellectual Property by replacing 'and' with 'whether or not'.

Add Controlled Entity:

'Controlled Entity means:

- any government Ministry or department connected to or interested in housing, including the Ministry for Housing and Urban Development; or
- any successor to or subsidiary of the Client; or
- a community housing provider under section 166(3) of the Housing Restructuring and Tenancy Matters Act 1992; or
- a Crown Entity within the meaning of section 7 of the Crown Entities Act 2004; or
- a Schedule 4A company under the Public Finance Act 1989; or
- a local authority under the Local Government Act 2002; or
- the Crown represented by one or more Ministers of the Crown,

and includes any entity controlled by one or more of the entities described above."

Amend New Intellectual Property:

After 'documentation' in the second line insert 'or other works'.

After 'on behalf of the Consultant' in the fourth line insert 'including any Subconsultant'

Amend Pre-existing Intellectual Property by inserting ', including any Subconsultant' after 'third party'.

Add Prior Services:

'Prior Services means:

any of the Services that have been provided by the Consultant to the Client under any arrangement between the Parties which was made in contemplation of the Agreement.'

Add Programme:

'Programme means

the programme set out in Appendix A, as amended from time to time in accordance with the Agreement?

Amend Variation by adding the word ', cost' after 'supply'.

2. Clause 1.2

Amend by adding the following at the end:

'Where the Consultant comprises two or more people or entities, those people or entities will be jointly and severally liable for performance of the Consultant's obligations under this Agreement.'

3. Clause 1.3

Add the following as a new clause 1.3:

'1.3 Term of Agreement

This Agreement continues until the earlier of:

the Fixed Term Expiry Date (if any) specified in the Special Conditions – Part A;

- the Services are completed; or
- it is terminated in accordance with this Agreement.

The Parties may agree to extend the term of this Agreement.

The Client does not guarantee any minimum fee will be payable under this Agreement and the Consultant does not have any exclusive right to provide the Services.'

4. Clause 2.1

Replace the word 'timetable' with the word 'Programme' in the second bullet point.

Add the following bullet points to the end of clause 2.1:

- 'provide sufficient employees (including Key Personnel) with the necessary qualifications, licenses, skills and experience to perform the Services to the standard required by this Agreement; and
- co-operate with the Client and use all reasonable endeavours to co-operate with any Other Consultants (as applicable); and
- at the Consultant's cost, correct any errors, omissions or both in any documentation prepared as part of the Services by the Consultant where the error or omission is the result of the Consultant failing to exercise the duty of care required by clause 2.2; and
- comply with all applicable legislation, regulations and any of the Client's rules, policies and standards (including access and security requirements of any tenanted properties) as described in Appendix A and as notified by the Client to the Consultant in writing from time to time, except to the extent that compliance with any of the Client's rules, policies or standards would constitute a breach of the Consultant's duty of care under this Agreement or its obligations as a PCBU under the HSWA. The Consultant may notify the Client where it considers any rule, policy or standard notified after the commencement of the Services results in a material increase in the Consultant's costs and such shall be treated as notice of a Variation for the purposes of clauses 2.13 and 7.'

5. Clause 2.2

Amend by adding at the end:

'for a project of a similar type and size to the Client's Project.'

6. Clause 2.8

After 'do not arise,' insert 'whether on the part of the Consultant or any of its personnel,'.

7. Clause 2.9

Amend by deleting and replacing with 'The Consultant must not instruct a Contractor to vary the Works in a material way, unless an emergency occurs. In emergency circumstances, the Consultant may vary the Works and shall immediately notify the Client about the changes.'

8. Clause 2.11

Amend as follows:

Amend by adding at the end:

'The Consultant must not display any details of the Agreement, the Services or the Works in its advertising or marketing material (including on social media):

- without the Client's prior written approval, such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld; or
- except where the Consultant is responding to any State service (as defined in the State Sector Act 1988) request for proposals for the provision of services and provided that any such response is protected by commercially reasonable confidentiality obligations.'

9. Clause 2.12

Amend as follows:

Replace the words 'programme set out in Appendix A' in the first paragraph with the word 'Programme'.

Add the following after the first paragraph:

'The Client and Consultant agree that the Consultant shall only be responsible for delays within the Consultant's reasonable control, and in particular, if at any time the Consultant's performance of the Services falls behind the Programme due to matters which are within the Consultant's control, then the Consultant shall, at the Consultant's cost, take all reasonably practicable steps to accelerate the performance of the Services to meet the Programme. The Consultant shall not be responsible for:

- delays in the completion of services by any Other Consultant and the Works by any Contractor directly engaged by the Client; or
- market constraints of labour or materials; or
- delays due to the requirement of an Other Consultant, Contractor or the Client to obtain any approval from any government body, utility provider or other entity.'

10. Clause 2.13

Replace 'programme and completion date for the Services' with 'Programme'

11. Clause 2.14

Add the following as a new clause 2.14:

'2.14 Tenanted properties

The Consultant acknowledges that the Services relate to properties that are or may be tenanted by the Client's tenants. If a property is tenanted the Consultant must comply with all of the Client's access, security and other requirements in respect of such a property.'

12. Clause 2.15

Add the following as a new clause 2.15:

'2.15 Delegation of powers

Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as a delegation of the Client's functions or powers to the Consultant, whether under the Crown Entities Act 2004 or otherwise and, in relation to any such matters, the Consultant's role is recommendatory only.'

13. Clause 2.16

Add the following as a new clause 2.16:

'The Consultant must notify the Client in writing as soon as it becomes aware of any actual or potential issues that could receive media attention.'

14. Clause 3.3

Amend by adding at the end:

'The Consultant shall, in every case where it requires the Client to make a decision, accompany the request for a decision with a reasonable level of information to enable the Client to consider the matter at issue. The Client is entitled to request further information as may be reasonably required by the Client to assist it in making the relevant decision. The provision of information pursuant to this clause 3.3 shall be at no additional cost to the Client except where such is beyond what would reasonably be expected to be provided by the Consultant as part of the Services.'

15. Clause 3.6

Amend by adding at the end:

'Notwithstanding the foregoing, in an urgent or emergency situation the Client may give instructions directly to Other Consultants and/or third parties directly contracted to the Client but in such an event the Client as soon as reasonably practicable must notify the Consultant that instructions have been given.'

16. Clause 3.7

After the word 'must' on the second line insert ', as soon as reasonably practicable,'.

Add the following after the first paragraph:

'The Client shall not be required to inform the Consultant of anything which will affect the scope or timing of the Services that is related to another Government agency or entity outside of the direct matters for which the Client is responsible as a Government agency or entity.'

17. Clause 3.9

Amend by adding at the end:

'Without limitation to the Client's obligations in the 4th bullet point of clause 3.2, any approval by the Client of information submitted to it by the Consultant (such information must in all cases be provided by email or in hard copy by the Consultant) shall not be taken to signify that the Client has checked the accuracy or completeness of such information received from the Consultant and shall not relieve the Consultant of any of its obligations under this Agreement unless approval is expressly given on that basis or the parties expressly agree such in writing.'

18. Clause 4.3

Amend by adding a new paragraph after the first paragraph

'The Consultant shall comply with the Client's probity requirements as set out in clause 2 of Appendix A.'

19. Clause 6.1

Amend by inserting the following words after 'special loss':

', loss of opportunity, loss of future fees.'

20. Clause 6.5

Amend as follows:

The first bullet point is deleted and replaced with the following: 'professional indemnity insurance for the amount as set out in the Special Conditions;'

The following is added at the end of clause 6.5:

'The Consultant's public liability insurance shall include a Principals indemnity extension for their vicarious liability arising from the Consultant's negligence in relation to the performance of this Agreement. In respect of this vicarious liability the Consultant's public liability policy shall apply in priority to and without contribution from any public liability insurance arranged by the Client.

The Consultant insurances required to be taken out by the Consultant shall be with insurers with a minimum unsecured credit rating of at least "A-" from Standard & Poor's (or equivalent) immediately on the execution of this Agreement. The Consultant shall keep them in force for the length of time set out in the Special Conditions except that in the case of professional indemnity insurance the maintenance obligation is as stated in the second paragraph of this clause 6.5.'

21. Clauses 7.1, 7.2 and 7.3

Amend by replacing 'programme and completion date for the Services' with 'Programme'.

22. Clause 7.4

Add a new clause 7.4 as follows:

'7.4 Reduction in Scope

The Client may reduce either or both of the scope of the Project, and the scope of the Services, and may engage another party to undertake any such works so removed from the scope, and in any such event the Consultant shall not be entitled to claim any breach, damages or loss of profits against the Client.

Within 15 days of any notice under this clause, the Consultant shall forward to the Client:

- (a) the proposed reduction in the consultancy fee for the reduction in the Services, such amount to be agreed in accordance with Clauses 7.2 and 7.3; and
- (b) the proposed amount of any reasonable out of pocket costs that the Consultant incurs solely because of the reduction in Services.

Upon determination of the reduction of the consultancy fee in accordance with this clause:

- (c) the consultancy fee; and
- (d) if the limitation of liability set out in clause 6.2 is expressly linked to the consultancy fee, then such limitation,

shall be reduced accordingly.'

23. Clause 9.1

Clause 9.1 is deleted and replaced with the following:

'Subject to clause 9.9, all New Intellectual Property held in any medium, whether electronic or otherwise shall be solely owned by the Client. The Consultant may not copy, use, disclose, distribute or sell any New Intellectual Property without the express written consent of the Client (which it may grant or withhold in the Client's sole and absolute discretion on whatever conditions the Client deems appropriate) except as required for the purpose of delivering the Services.'

24. Clause 9.2

Clause 9.2 is amended as follows:

Delete the words 'to the extent reasonably required to enable the Client to make use of the Services or use, adapt, update or amend the Works' and replace with the following:

'in relation to or in connection with this Agreement, the Services, the Works or the Client's Project, including for the planning, design, engineering, procurement, construction, testing, commissioning, completion, operation, maintenance, repair, replacement, modification, renewal, expansion and/or alteration of the Services, Works or the Client's Project.'

25. Clause 9.3

Clause 9.3 is amended by inserting the words: 'part of the' after the words 'concerning the' on the fourth line.

26. Clause 9.4

Amend by inserting the following at the end of the clause:

'The Consultant is liable to the Client for reasonably foreseeable claims, damages, liabilities (including any liability of the Client to a third party), losses or expenses caused directly by any breach of any of the Consultant's obligations, undertakings or warranties contained or implied in this clause 9.4.'

27. Clause 9.9

Add a new clause 9.9 as follows:

'If the Client's Project includes buildings that exceed 3 levels, then subject to clause 9.6, all New Intellectual Property held in any medium, whether electronic or otherwise, shall be jointly owned by the Client and the Consultant. The Client and the Consultant hereby grant to the other an unconditional, unrestricted, irrevocable, royalty-free license in perpetuity to copy or use such New Intellectual Property and each Party is free to make whatever use they wish of the New Intellectual Property without any obligation to obtain the other's consent or to account for any future benefits.'

28. Clause 10.1

Clause 10.1 is amended by deleting the words 'best endeavours' and replacing them with 'reasonable endeavours'.

29. Clause 10.2

Clause 10.2 is deleted and replaced with the following:

'If the parties cannot resolve the dispute themselves within a reasonable time (but in any event within 20 Working Days or such longer period agreed in writing), then either Party may require that the dispute be referred to mediation by serving written notice on the other.'

30. Clause 10.3

Clause 10.3 is amended by deleting the words 'a reasonable time' and replacing them with '20 Working Days of the date of either Party's notice requiring mediation issued pursuant to clause 10.2 (or such longer or shorter period as may be expressly agreed by the Parties).'

31. Clause 10.6

Add a new clause 10.6 as follows:

'Nothing in this clause 10 shall prevent or prejudice the ability of either party to apply to any court in order to seek interim injunctive relief against the other

32. Clause 11.2

Add the following paragraph at the end of clause 11.2 as follows:

'The Client will not in any circumstances be responsible for abandonment costs or lost fees for stages of the Services not performed as at the date of termination (including without limitation any loss of profit, or lost opportunity costs or claims suffered by the Consultant) or for any fees for any Services for which the Client had not, as at the date of termination, instructed the Consultant to proceed with.'

33. Clause 11.4

Amend by adding and (subject to and in accordance with clause 9.2) Pre-existing Intellectual Property' after 'New Intellectual Property'.

34. Clause 11.6

Add a new clause 11.6 as follows:

'The Client may suspend the performance of the Services by the Consultant at any time by written notice specifying the reasons why the Services are suspended. As soon as such notice is received by the Consultant, the Consultant will stop the performance of the Services. The Client may withdraw the suspension of the Services at any time by giving further written notice to the Consultant.

Suspension of the performance of the Services will not prejudice or affect the accrued rights or claims and liabilities of the Parties.

Where the Services are suspended other than for the default of the Consultant the Client shall:

 grant the Consultant additional time to complete the Services commensurate with the period of suspension plus the period of time reasonably required by the Consultant to remobilise should the Client later withdraw the suspension, and the Consultant shall not be entitled to a Variation due to suspension under this clause 11.6;

- pay the Consultant for the Services provided to the date of suspension and any reasonable costs incurred by the Consultant solely as a result of such suspension (the Consultant will take all reasonable steps to minimise all such costs);
- have no claim against the Consultant solely by reason of any delay caused by or arising from the suspension; and
- not be responsible for any costs or losses resulting from any such suspension other than the reasonable costs which may be payable under the 2nd bullet above.

The Consultant may terminate this Agreement by written notice to the Client where the Services remain suspended for a continuous period of more than three months and the Client has not withdrawn the suspension or the parties have not agreed a further extension of the suspension.

Where the Client gives notice to the Consultant withdrawing a suspension the Consultant must remobilise, and as far as reasonably possible reassign Key Personnel to the Project and provide sufficient employees (including Key Personnel) with the necessary qualifications, licenses, skills and experience to perform the Services to the standard required by this Agreement within a reasonable time from the date it receives the Client's notice.'

35. Clause 12.7

Add to the end:

'The Consultant shall submit to the Client a regular written report on the matters discussed at the times and in such form as the parties may agree from time to time or the Client reasonably requires.'

36. Clause 12.9

Amend by replacing clause 12.9 with the following:

'12.9 Assignment and Novation

The Consultant must not assign, transfer, novate or subcontract all or part of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the Client's prior written approval. This approval may be refused without the need to give reasons, except that, in the case where the Consultant requests approval to subcontract to a related company of the Consultant, such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.

The Client must not assign, transfer or subcontract all or part of its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the Consultant's prior written approval (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) except:

- this clause does not apply to the vesting of assets, liabilities, rights, and obligations pursuant to legislation; and
- the Consultant's prior approval shall not be required where the assignee, transferee or subcontractor is a Controlled Entity,

provided that the terms of any such assignment and transfer do not impose any greater liability on the Consultant than the Consultant owes or owed to the Client.

The Client may:

- novate this Agreement to a Controlled Entity without seeking the approval of the Consultant, and the Consultant must execute the deed of novation in the form attached as Appendix H2 to this Agreement; and
- with the Consultant's prior written approval (not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), novate this
 Agreement to any Third Party and the Consultant must execute the deed of novation substantially in
 the form attached as Appendix H1 to this Agreement.

If either Party assigns or transfers its rights, the Party assigning or transferring will remain liable for the performance of its obligations under this Agreement, unless specifically stated to the contrary in any

written consent or document giving effect to an assignment or transfer. For the avoidance of doubt, this paragraph shall not apply to a novation effected by the forms attached as Appendix H1 or H2 to this Agreement.'

37. Clause 12.10

Amend by replacing clause 12.10 with the following:

'12.10 Survival of Provisions

Add the following after the reference to "9" in clause 12.10:

'and 10, 11 and 12'

38. Clause 12.15

The following is added to the end of clause 12.15:

'For the avoidance of doubt, any exercise of a regulatory function by the Client shall not constitute a breach of this Agreement.'

39. New clause 12.19

Add the following as a new clause 12.19:

'12.19 Prior Services

Where the Consultant has performed any work under Project AR110717, the Agreement will retrospectively apply to those Prior Services from the date that it is executed by both Parties.

40. Clause 12.20

Add the following as a new clause 12.20:

'12.20 Other Services

The Consultant acknowledges and agrees that?

- where the Services are of a nature that do not relate to a specific Client's Project or specific site(s), the Client may in its sole discretion and at any time enter into agreements with other consultants and contractors for the provision of services similar to the Services and allocate the sites and services between the consultants and contractors as it sees fit; and
- the Consultant will not directly or indirectly make any claim against the Client in respect of the subject matter of this clause 12.20.'

41. Clause 12.21

Add the following as a new clause 12.21:

'12:21 Contract and Commercial Law Act

The obligations of the Consultant under the Agreement shall, for the purposes of Part 2, Subpart 1 (Contractual privity) of the Contract and Commercial Law Act 2017, be deemed to be for the benefit of Housing New Zealand Limited and Housing New Zealand Build Limited (including their respective successors and assigns) and shall be enforceable by Housing New Zealand Limited and Housing New Zealand Build Limited against the Consultant but not so as to impose any greater liability on the Consultant towards Housing New Zealand Limited and Housing New Zealand Build Limited than the Consultant owes or owed to the Client. For the avoidance of doubt, the Consultant's aggregate liability under or in connection with the Agreement, under contract, tort, statute or otherwise (including to the Client and Housing New Zealand Build Limited and Housing New Zealand Build Limited (including to the Client and Housing New Zealand Build Limited and Housing New Zealand Build Limited than the Consultant owes or owed to the Client. For the avoidance of doubt, the Consultant's aggregate liability under or in connection with the Agreement, under contract, tort, statute or otherwise (including to the Client and Housing New Zealand Build Limited (including their respective successors and assigns)) shall be collectively no greater than the applicable monetary limit of its liability under the Agreement.'

APPENDICES

- Appendix A: Scope, Purpose, Programme and Completion Date for the Services, Policy
- Appendix B: Fees, Expenses and Payment
- Appendix C: Client's Representative

Appendix D: Consultant's Key Personnel, Consultant's Representative

- Appendix E: Subconsultants and Subconsultants' Key Personnel
- Appendix F: Other Consultants, Other Consultants' Insurances, Personnel, Equipment, Facilities and Information Supplied by the Client

Appendix G: Client's Risk Identification and Notification

Appendix H: H1: Deed of Novation (Principal to Contractor)

H2: Deed of Novation (Principal to Principal)

Appendix A: Scope, Purpose, Programme and Completion Date for the Services, Policy

PART A - The Client's Project

Redevelopment of 6 Teitei Drive, Ohakune (Site) for the purpose of increasing the number of warm, dry and safe homes (capable of achieving 6 Homestar certification) available for public housing in the Ohakune Region.

PART B – The Services

The Consultant shall provide surveying, geotechnical engineering, hydrology assessment services in relation to the tion Act Client's Project, including and as attached:

- Survey Methodology: .
 - UAV and GNSS survey to capture topographic data.
 - Survey Reference Frames: 0
 - Horizontal Datum: NZGD 2000 Tuhirangi Meridional Circuit.
 - Vertical Datum: NZVD 2016.
- Health and Safety:
 - The proposed flight shall be carried out in accordance with the current CAA, national and local 0 authority requirements.
 - Outputs: 0
 - AutoCAD file (.pdf) containing topographic information and 3D faces of the ground surface model (TIN surface). Previous test ptr positions will also be included, from our recent work.
 - Topographic Plan (pdf).
 - Orthomosaic 1cm/pixel resolution (tiff).
- Hydrology Assessment:
 - Undertake a desktop study of the Site including review of the existing flood assessment reports, 0 NIWA databases and regional recording Sites.
 - Undertake a desktop study of the Site, including review of the existing flood assessment reports, 0 NIWA databases and reginal recording Sites.
 - Modelling Development 0
 - Develop rainfall model and determine flow discharges .
 - . Model flooding using HEC-RAS
 - Calibrate versus existing data
 - Report for the proposed development with results including: 0
 - Extent of flooding.
 - Flood Levels.
 - Overland flow paths.
- Enhanced Geotechnical Investigation:
 - Kick off meeting'- Attendance by the Subcontractor (CMW) project manager to agree the programme and discuss methodology, deliverables and project management.
 - The Subcontractor (CMW) field staff (x2) and the Subcontractor (CMW) project manager 0 attendance at the Client's induction.
 - Supervision and logging of test pits by the Subcontractor Geologist / Engineer. 0
 - Supervision and logging of machine boreholes by the Subcontractor (CMW) Geologist / Engineer -0 allow five days on Site.
 - Drafting Formalise hand auger, machine borehole and test pit logs, present a Site plan with any 0 'avoidance areas' and two cross sections. Develop a ground model for the Site.
 - Factual Report Produce a factual report with a basic Site plan and factual investigation results. 0
 - Analyses Undertake analyses for the development including liquefaction, static settlement, and 0 slope stability and bearing capacity.
 - Geotechnical Interpretive Report Prepare a geotechnical report for the proposed development 0

including the results of the analyses, development and earthworks recommendations, ground improvement and foundation recommendations.

- Provide a high-level cost estimate for the required ground improvement measures deemed 0 appropriate for the proposed residential development.
- Underground service locate (subcontractor). 0
- Digger Hire for excavation of six to eight test pits to depths of up to 4m, or refusal excavator and 0 operator hire for 1.5 days, plus travel and accommodation (subcontractor).
- Cone Penetrometer Tests (CPTs) Undertake six CPTs across the Site to depths of up to 15m 0 below ground level (or refusal) - allow for 1.5 days onsite, plus travel and accommodation (subcontractor).
- (SPTS) ex (SPTS) ex Action Act Drilling of six machine boreholes to 15m depth, with Standard Penetration Tests (SPTs) every

Kāinga Ora - Consultancy Services Agreement – Long Form: July 2021



RFQ: Project Due Diligence - Taranaki, Whanganui, Rangitikei, Manawatu, Horowhenua, Woodville, Ohakune, and Hawke's Bay (Selected Sites)

Scope Description

1. Topographical Survey Scope (all sites)

- Undertake a field survey to locate site features, e.g.:
 - o Spot heights
 - Spot heights to extend 1-2m beyond side and rear boundaries (where possible).

ionAct

- Road details (e.g. line work, street furniture, street lights, transformers, stormwater outlets, vehicle crossings, kerb and channel detail)
 - The survey of the road should extend to include the centre of the road and 20m beyond the side boundaries
 - Above and underground services
 - Including invert levels and lid levels of manholes and sumps
- o Structures
- o Fences

0

- o Tree trunk locations, drip line and height
- Notable features within 10m beyond the site boundary including public infrastructure, vegetation drip lines, gutter of immediate neighbouring houses / garages.
- Provide contours at an appropriate interval.
- Include the location, depth (invert levels where possible) of public and third party infrastructure where the infrastructure;
 - Traverses the property;
 - Is located within the road corridor which serves the property;
 - o Is to serve the redevelopment.

Where the location cannot be picked up by survey – include the information from Council GIS or third party source and indicate where the location of the service is indicative.

- Boundary + Control Mark information:
 - We do not require boundaries to be defined by survey at this stage.
 - If the underlying survey plan has limitations and a redefinition survey is recommended (e.g. Limited as to parcels), we would appreciate this to be raised for consideration.
 - If LINZ Primary Parcels are used, please note the boundary source on the survey and note whether boundaries are indicative.
 - Please provide the geodetic control marks + coordinates used to orient the survey in terms of the official geodetic datum. This can be tabulated and included in / on the survey.
 - Please tabulate the control marks placed (tabulated and included on the survey).

- Survey to be fit for purpose:
 - The surveys may be utilised by architects, designers and surveyors (internal and external).
- Control Marks to be placed:
 - Please leave behind suitable control / recovery marks in suitable locations to enable return surveys.
- Deliverables:
 - The surveys are to be provided in PDF and CAD formats including tin surface with 3D levels.
 PDF to display site features (please include public infrastructure from Council GIS).
 - Provide the coordinates and RLs of geodetic control marks used, and control marks placed (tabulated and included on the survey).
 - Photographical documentation of the site.

2. Enhanced Geotechnical Assessment Scope (Ohakune site only)

- We are exploring residential redevelopment of greenfields site(s) in the Ohakune Township.
- A preliminary investigation report has been completed and will be provided to the successful supplier (The Consultant).
- We require an enhanced Geotech Report to advance the:
 - o Liquefaction analysis,
 - The site soil class characterisation and,
 - To map the extent of 'soft soils'.
 - The report will further refine risk, and likely effects from liquefaction
- Testing to include 6 x machine boreholes and CPT
 - Allow for test pits and boreholes in six locations
 - Please also provide a rate for additional tests (to be applied if required)
- Expert Advice is sought on:

.

- Avoidance areas, or treatments to appropriately mitigate against natural hazards and liquefaction risk;
- Appropriate setbacks from avoidance areas' and foundation design for habitable buildings in the 'developable areas'
- Recommendations and costings on ground improvements to enable residential development and appropriately mitigate against natural hazards at this site, is also sought.

3. Enhanced Hydrology Assessment (Ohakune site only)

Please note: suppliers who can provide local resource will be weighted higher in .

- We are exploring residential redevelopment of greenfield site(s) in the Ohakune township.
- A preliminary report has been completed and will be provided to the successful supplier (The Consultant).
- Further hydrologic investigations are sought as follows:
 - Groundwater investigations and spatial analysis and characterisation of the waterway / overland flow paths, wetlands and any related advice to support scheme design.
 - Flood modelling to further identify and map flooding risks and setbacks for habitable buildings and support scheme design
 - Recommendations and costs on appropriate mitigation works to avoid, remedy or mitigate flood hazard risks and advice on appropriate finished floor levels for habitable buildings.
 - o Recommendations for groundwater monitoring.

- Please allow for a 1 hour induction (online / virtual). As a suggestion, this could include the project manager + health and safety person and / or all or selected field staff. Suppliers must ensure that the field staff have either attended an induction or have been educated on the information from the induction by those that attended (e.g. the project manager or health and safety person).
- Kāinga Ora reserves the right to vary the proposed bundles of work by continuing with the scope in full, partially or not at all.
- Kāinga Ora reserves the right to award the bundles separately, such that a successful consultancy may be awarded one bundle, or more than one bundle of work.
- Additional work may be commissioned with The Consultant on prior agreement. Any changes will be agreed with The Consultant after appointment but before commencement with the tasks. The Consultant is therefore requested to submit a table with hourly rates for key personnel that will form the basis for agreeing any variation.
- > Bundle 4 site details will be confirmed with the successful consultant at a later date.

Our Requirements

The successful supplier(s) (The Consultant) will be expected to:

- Ensure relevant staff attend a Kainga Ora induction before site visits commence.
- Provide Health and Safety documentation including risk assessment
- Use the Kainga Ora incident reporting system (Noggin) for reporting incidents.
- Provide a field work programme and reporting programme.
- Report to (email) and / or briefly meet with the Kainga Ora or External Project Manager weekly (virtually) to provide an update on progress and to flag high risk sites at the earliest opportunity.
- Ensure site investigations are coordinated and undertaken in parallel to reduce the number of visits to tenanted properties, or in sequence, to minimise disruption.
- Ensure 2-week notice is given via Kāinga Ora's Advisor Customer Liaison (ACL) prior to accessing the sites. The ACL will require the field work programme for this activity.
 - The ACL will provide their contact number. For site access issues, it is expected that the field workers will contact the ACL and / or the project manager at the earliest opportunity for assistance.
- Pull all of the information together in a clear set of recommendations (using visual aids and / or tables where appropriate).
- Ensure that all tasks are considered in relation to each other to determine the overall redevelopment feasibility and recommendations.
- Ensure that all deliverables have been checked for completeness and errors prior to delivery.

Additional project check-points as follows:

- A kick-off meeting with the Kāinga Ora (or external) project manager and The Consultant project manager will be scheduled within two-weeks of a contract being awarded. The purpose of this meeting will be to:
 - Agree the programme;
 - Discuss methodology, deliverables, and project management;

- The Consultant shall provide a draft structure of report deliverables at least three weeks prior to agreed delivery for an opportunity for feedback to be provided.
- The Consultant shall organise a 'handover' of the project deliverables and use this time to highlight key constraints.

Released under the Official Information Act

PART C – Tags and Excluded Services

NIL.

PART D – Programme and Completion Date

The Consultant will commence providing the Services with effect from the execution of this Agreement and will continue until all Services have been provided in respect of the Works and the Project.

PART E - Policy

1. Audits

1.1 Client entitled to undertake audit

The Client may at any time and from time to time initiate an audit of all or any of the Consultant's:

- compliance with this Agreement; and
- statutory, regulatory and contractual compliance generally; and
- project management practices, record management practices and documentation; and
- internal review, quality assurance and testing practices; and
- sub-contractor arrangements (including Subconsultant arrangements); and
- resources and technical infrastructures being utilised by the Consultant in its supply of the Services; and
- development, technical and operational processes and methodologies and all documentation associated with those processes and methodologies.

1.2 Conduct of audit

The Client must give the Consultant written notice (being not less than seven days) of when the audit is to be conducted and advise the Consultant of the individuals to whom the Client wishes to have access.

The Client must maintain the confidentiality of the information provided to it in the course of the audit and must use that information only for the purposes permitted under this Agreement. The Client shall ensure that any person appointed by it to conduct an audit under clause 1.1 of this Appendix A that is not an employee of the Client enters into an appropriate confidentiality agreement prior to the commencement of that audit.

The Consultant must

- provide such Records, information, explanations and documentation reasonably requested by the persons undertaking the audit for the Client that are relevant to the conduct of the audit;
- arrange for those undertaking the audit on behalf of the Client to meet with the Consultant's internal quality assessors and external auditors if so required; and
- make relevant records available to those undertaking the audit.

1.3 Results of audit

Upon the conclusion of any audit, the auditor shall make its report available to the Client and the Consultant. If that report reveals failure on the part of the Consultant to comply with any of its obligations, the Consultant shall at its own cost promptly take such steps necessary to remedy or mitigate the effect of those failures.

If an audit establishes that the Consultant is in material breach of this Agreement, or has acted negligently or fraudulently in the performance of any of the Services, the Client's reasonable costs of performing the audit will be met by the Consultant. In all other cases the Consultant will not be liable for any costs incurred by the Client in performing the audit. If an audit fails to establish that the Consultant is in material breach of this Agreement, or has acted negligently or fraudulently in the performance of any of the Services, the Client will pay the Consultant's reasonable costs resulting from the performance of the audit. If the Consultant disputes any findings in the auditor's report such dispute will be resolved in accordance with clause 10 of the Agreement and the liability for costs incurred by the Consultant as a consequence of meeting its obligation to remedy or mitigate the effects of such failures will be determined in the same dispute resolution process.

1.4 Controller and Auditor-General

The Controller and Auditor-General or any person appointed by the Controller and Auditor-General may examine all or any part of the Records for the purposes of the *Public Audit Act 2001*, and may require the Consultant, any Consultant's sub-contractor, Subconsultant or Key Personnel to provide oral and written explanations as required by the Controller and Auditor-General or his or her delegate.

1.5 Records

The Consultant shall maintain up to date and complete Records and shall maintain such Records for at least 3 years after the termination or expiry of this Agreement.

The Client acknowledges and agrees that clauses 1.1 to 1.5 inclusive of this Appendix A are inserted in this Agreement for the sole benefit of Kāinga Ora—Homes and Communities and (in the case of a novation under clause 12.8 of the Agreement) a Controlled Entity and shall not operate for the benefit of any other person including any successor to Kāinga Ora—Homes and Communities or a Controlled Entity.'

2 Probity

2.1 Key personnel

For the purposes of this clause 2 of Appendix A only, key personnel comprise any director, officer, employee, sub-consultant or agent of the Consultant or a Consultant Related Person that:

- has the ability to exercise influence or control in matters relating to the Services or the Client's Project;
- has access to information that is Confidential Information of the Client; or
- will attend a property owned by the Client or engage with any tenant of the Client.

2.2 Consultant not to cause probity event

The Consultant must use reasonable endeavours to ensure that no event, matter or thing arises in connection with the Consultant or any key personnel which is or is likely to have a material adverse impact on the name, brand or credibility of the Client, the public interest or confidence in the Client or the reputation or credibility of the Client or any of its tenants. A breach of this clause will be a default entitling the Client to terminate this Agreement.

2.3 Probity Investigations

The Consultant must use reasonable endeavours to ensure that all key personnel referred to in clause 2.1 of this Appendix A are fit and proper people or entities to be involved in the Services or the Client's Project as applicable and that such key personnel do not cause an event, matter or thing referred to in clause 2.2 of this Appendix A.

For the purposes of complying with this clause 2.3 of Appendix A, the Consultant must carry out and keep a Record of appropriate Probity Investigations.

2.4 Client requested Probity Investigations

At any time, the Client may:

- request copies of Probity Investigations carried out by the Consultant on key personnel, along with the Consultant's reasons for its conclusions under clause 2.3 of this Appendix A in respect of relevant key personnel; and/or
- conduct, or require the Consultant to conduct, additional Probity Investigations in respect of any key
 personnel or proposed key personnel.

If the Client requires the Consultant to conduct additional Probity Investigations, it must notify the

Consultant in writing of the key personnel and any specific Probity Investigations it requires. The Consultant shall promptly carry out the relevant investigations and provide a copy of the results (and its conclusions under clause 2.3 of this Appendix A) to the Client.

Any review, conduct or request for Probity Investigations by the Client shall not relieve the Consultant from any liability or obligation under clauses 2.2 or 2.3 of this Appendix A.

2.5 New key personnel to be notified

The Consultant shall advise the Client at least 10 Working Days prior to the proposed appointment of a person or entity proposed to become a key personnel referred to in clause 2.1 of this Appendix A.

2.6 Client's right to exclude key personnel

If the Client reasonably believes as a result of the Probity Investigation that any key personnel referred to in clause 2.1 of this Appendix A is either:

- not a fit and proper person or entity to be involved in the Services or the Client's Project; or
- will cause or is likely to cause a breach of clause 2.2 of this Appendix A,

then:

- the Client may at any time exercise the rights under clause 2.5 of this Appendix A in respect of such key personnel; and
- the Consultant shall pay to the Client, on or before 30 days from presentation of an invoice by the Client, all direct expenses reasonably incurred by the Client in carrying out Probity Investigations in respect of such key personnel.

If the Client reasonably believes as a result of the Probity Investigation that there is no basis to exercise the rights in clause 2.5 of this Appendix A, then the Client shall pay to the Consultant, on or before 30 days from presentation of an invoice by the Consultant, all direct expenses reasonably incurred by the Consultant as a result of the Probity Investigations in respect of such key personnel.

In exercising its rights under clause 2.5 of this Appendix A, as contemplated by this clause 2.6 of this Appendix A, the Client agrees to act reasonably.

2.7 Consents to Probity Investigations

The Consultant must obtain all consents and waivers from key personnel that may be required from time to time to permit the conduct (by the Client or the Consultant) or disclosure (including to the Client) of any Probity Investigations referred to in this clause.

2.8 Consultant not to receive rebates, etc.

The Consultant must not, and must ensure its employees, agents and those of any Consultant Related Person do not, directly or indirectly:

- receive from any person or entity any commission, amount, benefit, refund, rebate, discount (including on other contracts or arrangements), gift, entertainment, or other equivalent services, goods or benefits in kind, directly or indirectly, on account of or by reference to any amount that is to be paid directly or indirectly by, for, or on behalf of the Client to any Other Consultant, Sub consultant, Contractor or other person; or
- enter into any arrangement, agreement, plan or understanding, whether enforceable or unenforceable (and including all steps and transactions by which it is carried into effect) to receive any of the things referred to in the above.

The Client acknowledges and agrees that clauses 2.1 to 2.8 inclusive of this Appendix A are inserted in this Agreement for the sole benefit of Kāinga Ora—Homes and Communities and (in the case of a novation under clause 12.9 of the Agreement) a Controlled Entity and shall not operate for the benefit of any other person including any successor to Kāinga Ora—Homes and Communities or a Controlled Entity.

2.9 Confidential Information

The Client acknowledges that it will not seek and is not entitled to access to any information held by the

Consultant that is subject to an obligation of confidentiality in favour of any of the Consultant's other clients.'

3. Interpretation

For the purposes of this Appendix A the following meanings shall apply:

- **3.1 Consultant Related Person** means a "related company" of the Consultant (as that term is defined in section 2(3) of the Companies Act 1993) or Subconsultant.
- **3.2 Probity Investigation** means all investigations reasonably necessary to assess the character, honesty and integrity of persons or entities for the purpose of ensuring that such person or entity is fit and proper for involvement in relation to, arising out of or in connection with the Services and includes such investigations as are required by law or by the Client (in its absolute discretion) from time to time.
- **3.3 Records** means all records that would reasonably be expected to be kept by a professional consultant acting in accordance with clause 2.2 of the Agreement, that the Client expressly requires the consultant to keep or that would otherwise reasonably be required to facilitate the conduct of an audit under clause 1 of this Appendix A, including:
 - records relating to the Services, including: details of Services carried out, the Consultant's
 performance monitoring, Probity Investigations, compliance with applicable laws, all insurance claims
 relating to the Client's Project (save for documentation recording the Consultant's assessment of
 liability) and all incidents or near misses relating to health, safety and security; and
 - financial records, including: timesheets, payments made to or received from Subconsultants and contractors, and such other items as may reasonably be required from time to time to conduct cost audits for verification of cost expenditure or estimated expenditure, for the purpose of this Agreement.⁴

Appendix B: Fees, Expenses and Payment

Part A - Fee components (fixed, estimated, capped, provisional, disbursements)

Total fee (excluding GST) of \$100,350.00, comprised of:

| | Fee component | Fee Type | Amount (excl. GST) |
|----|---|---------------|--------------------|
| 1. | Enhanced Geotechnical Investigation (Sub contracted to CMW) | s 9(2)(b)(ii) | |
| 2. | Topographical Survey | | |
| 3. | Hydrology Assessment | | X |
| | | | NC. |

Fixed fees:

Unless otherwise stated, the obligation of the Client to pay the Consultant for a component of the Services specified in this part must be calculated and paid to reflect the level of completion of the relevant service component (as that is agreed between the Client and the Consultant), up to the fixed fees stated in this part.

Payment of a fixed fee specified in this part by the Client satisfies any obligation of the Client to pay the Consultant any amount in any way in relation to, arising out of or in connection with the relevant component of the Services.

Other fees and estimates (Estimated Fee):

For any component of the Services that is not the subject of a fixed tee under Part A, the obligation of the Client to pay the Consultant for the Services under this Agreement must be calculated and paid in accordance with the hourly rates specified in Part B, up to a cap equivalent to the Estimated Pees set out above. Each Estimated Fee shall operate as a guaranteed maximum price for the relevant service component and shall not be exceeded other than with the prior written approval of the Client.

| Part | B | Rates |
|------|---|-------|
|------|---|-------|

| Role | Hourly Rate (excl. GST | |
|---------------------|------------------------|--|
| Engineering Manager | s 9(2)(b)(ii) | |
| Project Manager | | |
| Design Principal | | |

Appendix C: Client's Representative

Client Representative

| Name: | Sam Mogford |
|-------------|-------------------------------|
| Address: | 74 Grey Street, Gisborne |
| Occupation: | Advisor Strategy Development |
| Email: | sam.mogford@kaingaora.govt.nz |
| Phone: | s 9(2)(a) |

Released under the Official Information Act

Appendix D: Consultant's Key Personnel, Consultant's Representative

Consultant's Representative

| Name: | Dean Sherrit |
|-------------|--|
| Address: | 22 Goldfinch Street, Okahune 4625 |
| Occupation: | Regional Manager Principal, Ohakune. |
| Email: | Dean.sherrit@cheal.co.nz |
| Phone: | 06 385 9534 |

Consultant's Key Personnel

| Name: | s 9(2)(a) | | | An |
|-------------------|---------------------|---------|-------|------|
| Occupation: | Engineering Manager | | | atil |
| Name: Address: | s 9(2)(a) | | torn | |
| Occupation: | Design Principal | nderthe | icalt | |
| | 80 | | | |

Appendix E: Subconsultants and Subconsultants' Key Personnel

Subconsultants

| Name: | CMW Geosciences (NZ) Limited Partnership |
|----------|--|
| Address: | 116 Cameron Road, Tauranga 3110 |
| Role: | Enhanced Geotechnical Investigation |
| Email: | adminnz@cmwgeo.com |
| Phone: | 07 975 0916 |

Subconsultants' Key Personnel

Key Personnel of CMW Geosciences (NZ) Limited Partnership

| Email: | adminnz@cmwgeo.com |
|--|---|
| Phone: | 07 975 0916 |
| Subconsult | ants' Key Personnel |
| Key Personne | l of CMW Geosciences (NZ) Limited Partnership |
| Name: | s 9(2)(a) |
| Email: | all |
| Occupation: | Manager Geotechnical Investigation |
| Subconsult | ant's Subcontractor |
| Name: Drillco | re Limited |
| Role: Driller | e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e |
| Email: admin(| @drillcore.co.nz |
| Phone: 07 213 | 3 1323 |
| Key personn | el of Drillcore Limited |
| Name s 9(2)(a Phone Email: | eleased unde |
| | |

Subconsultant's Subcontractor

Key personnel of Drillcore Limited

Appendix F: Other Consultants, Other Consultants' Insurances, Personnel, Equipment, Facilities and Information supplied by the Client

Other Consultants

Not applicable.

Other Consultants' Insurances, Personnel, Equipment, Facilities and Information supplied by the Client

• Obtaining land owner / occupier approval to fly drone.

Released under the Official Information Act

Appendix G: Client's Risk Identification and Notification

Kāinga Ora Supplier Code of Conduct – For Suppliers of Works and Services – January 2020.

Released under the Official Information Act

Appendix H1: Deed of Novation (Principal to Contractor)

Contract for [Contract Name & Contract Number]

| THIS C | DEED is made on | ('the Effective Date') |
|--------|-----------------|------------------------|
| вү | | ('the Client) |
| | | ('the Contractor') |
| | | ('the Consultant') |

IT IS MADE IN THE FOLLOWING CIRCUMSTANCES

- A. The Client and the Consultant are parties to the agreement entered into on a copy of which is attached and marked 'A' ('the Agreement').
- B. With effect on and from the Effective Date, the Client wishes to:
 - (i) Transfer all of its rights and obligations under the Agreement to the Contractor; and
 - (ii) Be released from its obligations under the Agreement.
- C. With effect on and from the Effective Date, the Contractor wishes to accept the transfer of all the Client's rights and obligations under the Agreement.

THE PARTIES AGREE

- 1. THIS deed shall take effect on and from the date of its execution ('the Effective Date').
- 2. THE Client:
 - (a) Transfers to the Contractor all of its rights and obligations under the Agreement;
 - (b) Warrants it has performed all of its obligations under the Agreement up to the Effective Date;
 - (c) Shall remain liable to the Consultant for any breach of the Agreement by the Client which occurred prior to the Effective Date; and
 - (d) Subject to the terms of any continuity deed entered into between the Client and the Consultant, releases the Consultant from all of its obligations under the Agreement for the period following the Effective Date.

3. THE Contractor:

- (a) Accepts the transfer with effect from the Effective Date;
- (b) Confirms that, as from the Effective Date:
 - (i) The Contractor is substituted for the Client under the Agreement as if it had originally executed the Agreement in place of the Client;
 - (ii) All references in the Agreement to the Client are to be read and construed as if they were references to the Contractor; and
 - (iii) The Contractor may exercise all the Client's rights under the Agreement; and

(c) Shall perform all of the Client's obligations under the Agreement from the Effective Date.

THE Consultant:

4.

- (a) Consents to the transfer;
- (b) Releases the Client from all of its obligations under the Agreement for the period following the Effective Date (but for of any breach of the Agreement that occurred prior to the Effective Date);
- (c) Confirms that, as from the Effective Date:
 - (i) The Contractor is substituted for the Client under the Agreement as if it had originally executed the Agreement in place of the Client
 - (ii) All references in the Agreement to the Client are to be read and construed as if they were references to the Contractor
 - (iii) The Contractor may exercise all of the Client's rights under the Agreement; and
- (d) Shall remain liable to the Client for any breach of the Agreement by the Consultant which occurred prior to the Effective Date.
- 5. THE terms of the Agreement continue in full force and effect.
- 6. EACH party is to pay its own costs (including, without limitation, legal expenses) in entering into this deed.
- 7. **EACH** party is, at its own expense and at the request of any other party, to execute and deliver or cause its successors and permitted assigns to do all things as may be reasonably requested by that other party to obtain the full benefit of this document according to its true intent.
- 8. AN amendment to this deed will only be effective if it is in writing and signed by all parties.
- 9. THIS deed shall be construed and take effect in accordance with the laws of New Zealand.
- 10. **NOTWITHSTANDING** anything to the contrary in this deed and for the avoidance of doubt, the Consultant will:
 - (a) not owe or have any greater obligations or liability, whether in scope or duration, to the Contractor that the Consultant would have owed or had to the Client; and
 - (b) be entitled to raise all limitations and to raise all defences to liability as would have been available to it against the Client, had the Client remained a party to the Agreement.
- 11. FOR the avoidance of doubt, the Consultant's aggregate liability under or in connection with the Agreement or this deed, whether prior to or following the novation of the Agreement, under contract, tort, statute or otherwise (including to the Client and the Contractor) shall be collectively no greater than the applicable monetary limit of its liability under the Agreement.

| EXECUTED as a deed | |
|--|-----------|
| SIGNED on behalf of the Client by: | |
| Authorised Signatory of Principal | |
| SIGNED on behalf of the Contractor by: | |
| Director | AC. |
| Director | |
| SIGNED on behalf of the Consultant by: | a Inform. |
| Director | officio |
| Director | |
| NOTE - | |

EVECUTED as a dood

- (1) A copy of the design agreement being transferred ('the Agreement) shall be attached and marked 'A'.
- (2) This deed shall be executed by the Contractor, the Client, and the Consultant in the manner required for execution of a deed. Any of these parties which are a company shall execute the bond by having it signed, under the name of the company, by two ormore directors. If there is only one director, it is sufficient if the deed is signed under the name of the company by that director, but the signature shall be witnessed by another person. The witness shall not only sign but shall also add his or her occupation and address. Alternatively, companies may execute under power of attorney. Any party which is a body corporate (other than a company) shall execute in the same manner as a company by persons in a comparable position to a company director or otherwise in accordance with section 9 of the Property Law Act 2007. In the case of a party who is an individual, the party shall sign and the signature shall be witnessed by another person. The witness shall not only sign but shall also add his or her occupation and address.

Schedule 1

Agreement

Released under the Official Information Act

Appendix H2: Deed of Novation (Principal to Principal)



Date:

PARTIES

Kainga Ora—Homes and Communities (the Retiring Party)

[Insert] Limited (CN [Insert]) (the New Party)

Cheal Consultants Limited (the Continuing Party)

BACKGROUND

- A The Retiring Party and the Continuing Party are parties to the Agreement.
- B With effect on and from the Effective Date, the Retiring Party wishes to novate all of its rights and obligations under the Agreement to the New Party and to be released from its obligations under the Agreement.
- C With effect on and from the Effective Date, the New Party wishes to accept the novation of all the Retiring Party's rights and obligations under the Agreement.

THE PARTIES AGREE:

1 INTERPRETATION

In this deed, unless the context otherwise requires, terms defined and references construed in the Agreement have the same meanings and constructions in this deed.

Other terms in this deed, unless the context otherwise requires, have the following meanings:

Agreement means the form agreement for consultant engagement dated [insert] and made between the Retiring Party (1) and the Continuing Party (2), a copy of which is attached as an Appendix to this deed;

Effective Date means [insert date novation is to take effect]; and

Novate and Novation mean the substitution of the Retiring Party's rights and obligations under the Agreement in favour of the New Party pursuant to clause 3.

2

3

The Retiring Party:

NOVATION

- (a) novates in favour of the New Party all of its rights and obligations under the Agreement (including liability for any breach of the Agreement by the Retiring Party prior to the Effective Date);
- (b) covenants in favour of the New Party and the Continuing Party to perform all of its obligations under the Agreement up to the Effective Date; and
- (c) releases the Continuing Party from all of its obligations under the Agreement for the period following the Effective Date.

NEW PARTY'S ACCEPTANCE

The New Party accepts the Novation with the effect that:

- (a) the New Party is substituted for the Retiring Party under the Agreement as if it had originally executed the Agreement in place of the Retiring Party;
- (b) all references in the Agreement to the Retiring Party are to be read and construed as if they were references to the New Party;
- (c) the New Party may exercise all the Retiring Party's rights under the Agreement; and
- (d) the New Party will perform all of the Retiring Party's obligations under the Agreement.

4 CONTINUING PARTY'S CONSENT, RELEASE AND CONFIRMATION

The Continuing Party:

- (a) consents to the Novation;
- (b) releases the Retiring Party from all of the Retiring Party's obligations to the Continuing Party under the Agreement; and
- (c) confirms that, from the Effective Date:
 - (i) the New Party is substituted for the Retiring Party under the Agreement as if it had originally executed the Agreement in place of the Retiring Party;
 - (ii) all references in the Agreement to the Retiring Party are to be read and construed as if they were references to the New Party; and
 - (iii) the New Party may exercise all of the Retiring Party's rights under the Agreement.

5 AGREEMENT CONTINUES

As between the Continuing Party and the New Party, and except to the extent to which they are varied by this deed, the covenants, terms and conditions expressed and implied in the Agreement will continue in full force.

6 LICENCE OF INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

(a) The New Party and the Continuing Party grant to the Retiring Party a non-exclusive, non-assignable, royaltyfree licence in perpetuity to copy or use any New Intellectual Property and Pre-Existing Intellectual Property for the purpose of projects other than the Client's Project provided that the Retiring Party acknowledges and agrees that if it uses New Intellectual Property or Pre-Existing Intellectual Property in relation to any project other than the Client's Project, then:



the Continuing Party accepts no liability (whether in contract tort or otherwise) arising from the use of the New Intellectual Property or the Pre-Existing Intellectual Property by the Retiring Party in relation to such other project; and

- (ii) the Retiring Party shall not use or refer to the name of the Continuing Party in relation to such other project without the Continuing Party's prior written consent.
- (b) The licence of the New Intellectual Property and Pre-Existing Intellectual Property required from each party under this clause 6 shall be limited to that party's interest in the New Intellectual Property and/or Pre-Existing Intellectual Property under the Agreement.
- (c) For the purposes of this clause "Pre-Existing Intellectual Property", "New Intellectual Property" and "Client's Project" shall have the meaning given to those terms in the Agreement.

7 LIABILITY

- (a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this deed and for the avoidance of doubt, the Continuing Party will:
 - (i) not owe or have any greater obligations or liability, whether in scope or duration, to the New Party that the Continuing Party would have owed or had to the Retiring Party; and
 - (ii) be entitled to raise all limitations and to raise all defences to liability as would have been available to it against the Retiring Party, had the Retiring Party remained a party to the Agreement.
- (b) For the avoidance of doubt, the Continuing Party's aggregate liability under or in connection with the Agreement or this deed, whether prior to or following the novation of the Agreement, under contract, tort, statute or otherwise (including to the Retiring Party and the New Party) shall be collectively no greater than the applicable monetary limit of its liability under the Agreement.

8 COSTS

Each party will pay its own costs of and incidental to the preparation and completion of this deed, every further assurance pursuant to the following clause and any and all related disbursements.

9 FURTHER ASSURANCE

Each party, at its own expense, and at the request of any other party, will execute and deliver all relevant documents and do all things as may be reasonably requested by that other party, or will cause its successors and permitted assigns to do so, so that each party obtains the full benefit of this deed according to its true intent.

10 ASSIGNMENT

Each party to this deed may only transfer or assign any of its rights or obligations under this deed with the prior written consent of the other parties.

11 GOVERNING LAW

This deed will be construed and take effect in accordance with the laws of New Zealand.

12 COUNTERPARTS

This deed may be executed in any number of counterparts. All counterparts together will be taken to constitute one instrument. This deed may be executed on the basis of an exchange of facsimile copies or copies sent by electronic transmission and execution of this deed by such means is to be a valid and sufficient execution.

EXECUTION

| EXECUTED AS A DEED by KAINGA ORA—HOMES AND COMMUNITIES by its duly authorised attorney | |
|---|---------------------|
| in the presence of | Attorney |
| Witness Signature | Name (Please Print) |
| Witness Name (Please Print) | PCt |
| Occupation (Please Print) | ation |
| Address (Please Print) | tormo |
| EXECUTED AS A DEED by: | ei cial III. |
| (The New Party) | OKI |
| Director | Director |
| Name (Please Print) | Name (Please Print) |
| EXECUTED AS A DEED by: | |
| (The Continuing Party) | |
| Director | Director |
| Name (Please Print) | Name (Please Print) |

APPENDIX: AGREEMENT (Clause 1)

Released under the Official momentum Released under the Official Momentum Released under the Official Momentum these J Note - This deed must be executed by the Retiring Party, the New Party and the Continuing Party in the manner required for execution of

Note – This deed must be executed by the Retiring Party, the New Party and the Continuing Party in the manner required for execution of a deed. Any of these parties which are a company must execute the bond by having it signed, under the name of the company, by two or more directors. If there is only one director, it is sufficient if the bond is signed under the name of the company by that director, but the signature must be witnessed by another person. The witness must not only sign but must also add his or her occupation and address. Alternatively, companies may execute under power of attorney. Any party which is a body corporate (other than a company) must execute by affixing its seal, which must be attested in the manner provided for in the rules of, or applicable to, the body corporate. In the case of a party who is an individual, the party must sign and the signature must be witnessed by another person. The witness must not only sign but must also add his or her occupation and address.



Kāinga Ora - Contract Variation #1

| Date: | 24 March 2023 |
|-------------------|---|
| Contract | |
| Client: | Kāinga Ora – Homes and Communities (formerly Housing New Zealand Corporation) |
| Consultant: | Cheal Consultants Limited |
| Services: | Geotechnical Engineering |
| Project: | AR110717 |
| Site(s): | 6 Teitei Drive, Ohakune 4625 |
| Type of Contract: | Kāinga Ora Conditions of Contract for Consultancy Services (Contract) |
| Contract dated: | In or about October 2022 |

Variation

The Client and the Consultant are Parties to the Contract.

The Parties agree to vary the Contract. The scope of the variation is set out in the attached Schedule of Changes. The variation is effective from the Effective Date stated in the Schedule of Changes.

Subject to the changes made by the variation the terms and conditions of the Contract remain in effect.

Words used but not defined in the variation have the same meaning as they do in the Contract.



Acceptance

Signed for and on behalf of the Client:

Signature

Name: Tamsyn McDonald

Position: Director - Greenfield & Complex Projects

Date:

Signed for and on behalf of the Consultant:

Signature

Name: ANTHON MOS Released under the Official Intomation Position:



Schedule of Changes

Effective Date: The parties agree that the following change(s) will be deemed to have taken effect from the date of execution of this agreement.

Contract Value

| Reference | Total Fee (excl. GST) | New Total Fee (excl. GST) |
|-------------------|-----------------------|---------------------------|
| Original contract | \$100,350.00 | |
| Variation #1 | \$125,000.00 | \$225,350.00 |

Changes

| Changes | | | | |
|----------------------|--|---|--|--|
| Гуре of variation | Contract reference(s) | Specific details of Variation(s) | | |
| The Services | Appendix A: Scope, Programme and Other Details of the Services | Part B – The Services Add the following to the end of the scope of services section: "Scheme Plan Preparation of subdivision scheme plan (once) to support the subdivision consent application. Preliminary Design The Consultant would Attend pre-application meetings to ensure that all aspects of the development are included into the engineering desig (anticipated cost ^{S 9(2)(b)} (ii) To support a resource consent application the Consultant will undertake a preliminary engineering design and prepare an engineering services report. A analysis of the services required for the development will be required and will include the anticipated wate volume requirements, wastawater and Starmuster | | |
| Rele | | (ii) To support a resource consent application the Consultant will undertake a preliminary engine design and prepare an engineering services rep analysis of the services required for the develop will be required and will include the anticipated volume requirements, wastewater and Stormw discharge volumes. An investigation of existing services to determine capability to provide servithe development, roading alignment and gradin | | |



Released unde

plans will be undertaken. Council is to provide the existing capacity and upgrade needed on three waters. Agreement from Ruapehu District Council to provide these services to the development will be required. The Consultant will also liaise with all other services providers such as Power and Telecom (anticipated cost = 9(2)(b)

Detailed Design

In order to meet the conditions of Resource Consent (and ultimately obtain individual titles) construction aspects of the Conditions of the Consent must be completed on site, which amongst other things include requirements as to construction standards for lot access and servicing. These Conditions normally include the provision of services, such as:

• Construction and certification of bulk earthworks and potential owelling locations.

Construction of public roading and private vehicular access coutes.

Potable water, wastewater, stormwater, telephone and power connections.

Landscaping, fencing etc.

In order to undertake these construction works; a detailed engineering design must first be completed which identifies the standard of access and servicing necessary to enable the lots to be created. This design will require approval to be obtained from Council (and other relevant service authorities) prior to construction proceeding. Following approval a detailed civil engineering design will be prepared which includes the design drawings, a schedule of quantities, and technical specification. This will form a natural hold point for review with the client on scale of construction intended, and timeframes for tendering and construction to proceed based on prevailing market conditions.



| | | A sig woul previ the c | nificant degree of eng d have already been o ious preliminary desig ost of the detailed de | gineering des developed du n phase, whi sign to be ree | ign solutions Iring the ch will enable duced. |
|-------------------|--|---|---|--|--|
| | | There civil e entir Appr (sche antic | efore, the Consultant engineering design of e subdivision, includir oval from RDC, and pi edule of quantities, ter ipated at \$1,500/lot." | shall underta civil works re ng obtaining l roducing tend chnical specif | ake detailed equired for the Engineering der documents Fication) |
| Fee Components | Appendix B: Fees, Expenses and Payment | Part a reiml | A – Fee components (bursable costs/ disbur t the following lines in | fixed, estima sements) no the fee ta | ted, capped, ble: |
| | | | Fee component | Fee type | Amount (excl. GST) |
| | | 4. | Engineering Design – Scheme Plan | s 9(2)(b)(ii) | |
| | der | 5. | Engineering Design – Preliminary Design | | |
| | dun | 6. | Engineering Design – Detailed Design | | |

KĀINGA ORA – HOMES AND COMMUNITIES

6 TEITEI DRIVE, OHAKUNE

COST ESTIMATE REPORT – ENGINEERING DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION SUPERVISION

Further to our discussions, following are cost estimates (all excluding disbursements and CST) to complete the preliminary engineering design to support a resource consent application, detailed engineering design for construction, tendering and supervision of a construction contract and undertaking the Land Transfer Survey for the development of the property located at 6 Teitei Drive, Ohakune.

We understand that the site could potentially be developed (as shown on attached concept plan) into 157 allotments in three stages but that this proposal is for Stage 1 being only 44 allotments. We also understand that you will be engaging another consultant to prepare resource consent applications and we have allowed time in our proposal to work collaboratively with them.

1. INTRODUCTION

We understand that design and construction is to be completed for Stage 1, however some services such as stormwater management, water reticulation and a wastewater pump station will be designed to allow for future development of all stages.

This cost estimate report allows for the preliminary engineering design and preparation of an Engineering Services Report to support a resource consent application. Once a resource consent is issued detailed design of the subdivision will be undertaken and engineering approval obtained from Ruapehu District Council. Following engineering approval this proposal includes fees to prepare tender documents and undertake construction inspection works. We have not allowed for an Engineer to Contract role. We have allowed to prepare Asbuilts drawings based on information / data provided by the Contractor plus fees to undertake and carry out land transfer survey, obtain Sections 223 and 224 certification and lodge cadastral survey dataset with Land Information New Zealand.

On your instruction we will continue our work on this project under the conditions of the Agreement for Consultancy Services previously signed for this project.

PART 1 – ENGINEERING DESIGN

2. SCHEME PLAN

Preparation of subdivision scheme plan (once) to support the subdivision consent application.

Subtotal of Cheal Cost Estimate (excluding disbursements and GST)

3. PRELIMINARY ENGINEERING DESIGN OF STAGE 1

Prior to preparing the preliminary engineering design and Engineering services report, we will need to understand any constraints in the existing infrastructure in Ohakune, regional and district council's expectations and planning objectives. This is usually done as a series of meetings known as pre-application meetings. Cheal would attend these meetings to ensure that all aspects of the development are included into the engineering design. Anticipated cost \$5,000.

To support a resource consent application we will undertake a preliminary engineering design and prepare an engineering services report. An analysis of the services required for the development will be required and will include the anticipated water volume requirements, wastewater and stormwater discharge volumes. An investigation of existing services to determine capability to provide services to the development, roading alignment and grading plus earthworks volumes calculation and preparation of plans will be undertaken. Council is to provide the existing capacity and upgrade needed on three waters. Agreement from Ruapehu District Council to provide these services to the development will be required. We will also liaise with all other services providers such as Power and Telecom. Anticipated cost \$45,000.

Subtotal of Cheal Cost Estimate (excluding disbursements and GST)

s 9(2)(b)(ii)

2/6

Exclusions:

- LINZ search fees
- Disbursements, i.e. vehicle kilometers (\$0.83/km), survey equipment, stationery, tolls, survey marks
- Specialist reports, i.e. landscape, traffic, economic
- Health & Safety Compliance/Inductions in relation to site visits
- Ruapehu District Council processing fees
- Council request for further information charged at hourly rates

s 9(2)

4. DETAILED ENGINEERING DESIGN OF STAGE 1

In order to meet the conditions of Resource Consent (and ultimately obtain individual titles), construction aspects of the Conditions of the Consent must be completed on site, which amongst other things include requirements as to construction standards for lot access and servicing. These Conditions normally include the provision of services, such as:

- Construction and certification of bulk earthworks and potential dwelling locations.
- Construction of public roading and private vehicular access routes.
- Potable water, wastewater, stormwater, telephone and power connections.
- Landscaping, fencing etc.

In order to undertake these construction works; a detailed engineering design must first be completed which identifies the standard of access and servicing necessary to enable the lots to be created. This design will require approval to be obtained from Council (and other relevant service authorities) prior to construction proceeding. Following approval a detailed civil engineering design will be prepared which includes the design drawings, a schedule of quantities, and technical specification. This will form a natural hold point for review with the client on scale of construction intended, and timeframes for tendering and construction to proceed based on prevailing market conditions.

A significant degree of engineering design solutions would have already been developed during the previous preliminary design phase, which will enable the cost of the detailed design to be reduced.

Therefore, on this basis Cheal Consultants fee to undertake:

• Detailed civil engineering design of civil works required for the entire subdivision, including obtaining Engineering Approval from RDC, producing tender documents (schedule of quantities, technical specification) is anticipated at \$1,509/lot.

Subtotal of Cheal Cost Estimate (excluding disbursements and CSI)

s 9(2)(b)(ii)

3/6

Exclusions:

- GST
- Disbursements, i.e. mileage (\$0.83/km), survey equipment, stationery etc.
- Geotechnical Design or specific earthwork specification
- Council request for further information charged at hourly rates

PART 2 – CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION AND LAND TRANSFER SURVEY

5. CONSTRUCTION INSPECTION, ASBUILTS AND COMPLETION CERTIFICATION OF STAGE 1

Once a preferred contractor is selected, the contract is confirmed and the contractor is engaged to undertake the construction inspection. Chartered Professional Engineers are required to conduct regular site inspection and certification of the construction works to ensure Council acceptance of the completed works.

Upon completion of the construction contract, a full set of "Asbuilt" plans are prepared based on site survey data collected by Contractor throughout the construction phase and submitted to Council for certification and acceptance of the completed works. This is typically termed "Practical Completion" of the civil works contract.

Cheal resources are allocated to the different aspects of the project as are best suited to the work required and thereby provide the most cost-effective service to the project.

A big factor in determining the appropriate construction supervision is the length of time the construction phase will take on site. In preparing this fee proposal we have assumed a construction period of 26 weeks. We have allowed total of 2 site visits per week (first inspection per week will be from Taupo Office and the second site visit will be from Ohakune office but support by Engineer in Taupo) with each visit being around two hours on site and travel time from Taupo or Ohakune, with 2 to 3 hrs in the office for preparing site records and inspection details and we have also allowed appropriate administrative support.

Should the assumed 16-week construction period extend due to weather, construction complexity or contractor delays, we reserve the right to negotiate an increase in fees accordingly. Similarly should the contract period be less than 16 weeks, we will look to pass on any savings in our fees where possible.

Cheal Consultants fee to undertake:

- 1. Construction including preparing site records (based on one visit per week over 26 weeks construction period from Taupō (\$2,500 per visit)), anticipated cost of \$65,000.
- 2. Construction inspection including preparing site records (based on one visit per week over 26 weeks construction period from Ohakune Office (\$1,500 per visit)), anticipated cost of \$39,000.

Note: Additional Construction visits would be undertaken on an hourly rates basis if there is more than two inspections required on a weekly basis.

3. Asbuilt survey and plan preparation. Practical Completion inspections and certification, anticipated cost of **s 9(2)(b)**

Subtotal of Cheal Cost Estimate (excluding disbursements and GST)

s 9(2)(b)(ii)

4/6

Exclusions:

- GST
- Disbursements, i.e. mileage (\$0.83/km), survey equipment, stationery etc
- Contractors construction costs.
- Statement of Geotech Suitability for Building Platforms, if required.
- Engineer to Contract role
- Geotechnical Inspections, Geotechnical Completion Report and Fill Certification

DESIGN SUPPORT / CHANGES 6.

Sometime during construction, the design changes get requested by Client or Contractor therefore we have allowed the provisional sum that can be used and will be charged on hourly rates upon approval from Client. 1 Informe

Subtotal of Cheal Cost Estimate (excluding disbursements and GST)

7. LAND TRANSFER SURVEY

In conjunction with the Civil design of access and services, the legal survey definition of parcels and easements needs to be planned, controlled during construction and ultimately completed so as to provide for the issue of certificates of title. The Land Transfer survey will bear out the Resource Consent and provide for Stage 1 of the subdivision to be given effect to. This process involves gaining Ruapehu District Council certification pursuant to Sections 223 and 224c of the Resource Management Act 1991 and obtaining approval as to survey from Land Information New Zealand. We will need to work closely with your lawyer to ensure that all douments are appropriately worded and laid out so as to provide the desired saleable finished product

Cheal Consultants tee to complete cadastral survey work, prepare eSurvey documentation including Land Transfer Plans, obtain Ruapehu District Council certification and lodge with Land Information NZ for Approval as to Survey for Stage 1 only.

Subtotal of Chedi Cost Estimate (excluding disbursements and GST)

Exclusions:

- GST
- Disbursements, i.e. mileage (\$0.83/km), survey equipment, stationery etc.
- Legal fees, conveyances, preparation of legal documents.
- Taupo District Council fee for certification and engineering processing/inspection.
- Land Information NZ fee for approval.

s 9(2)(b)(ii)

5/6

s 9(2)(b)(ii)

chea

SUMMARY AND TIMEFRAME 8.

| Cheal Engine | Fees – Part 1 eering Design | Timeframe | Costs (as above) |
|-----------------|--------------------------------|---------------|---------------------|
| 2 | Scheme Plan | s 9(2)(b)(ii) | |
| 3 | Preliminary Design | | |
| 4 | Detailed Design | | |
| TOTAL | | 1. | |

| Cheal Fee Construct | es – Part 2 ion Inspections and Land Transfer Survey | Timeframe | Costs (as above) | |
|------------------------|---|---------------|---------------------|--|
| 5.1 & 5.2 | Construction Supervision | s 9(2)(b)(II) | | |
| 5.3 | Preparation of As-built Plans | | \sim | |
| 6 | Design Support / Changes (provisional sum) | | | |
| 7 | Land Transfer Survey | U, C | | |
| TOTAL: | | | | |

We will proceed on immediately as per current instructions.

, further, he official Should you have any queries or wish to discuss any aspect further, please do not hesitate to contact us.

asad

SUNIL PRASAD CHEAL CONSULTANTS LIMITED 28 February 2023